
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, December 11, 2018 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on December 5, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing January 8, 2019. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
December 11, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Fred Watson 
Mayor 
Term Expires 2020 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Thor Williams 
Vice-Mayor 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net  

Mitchell Forbes  
Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Perry Barr 
Council Member  
Term Expires 2020 
pbarr@cityofbethel.net 

Carole Jung-Jordan 
Council Member  
Term Expires 2020 
cjordan@cityofbethel.net  

Fritz Charles 
Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
fcharles@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 
City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 
City Clerk 
543-1384 
lstrickler@cityofbethel.net  

Patty Burley 
City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER  

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *11-27-2018 Regular Meeting Minutes 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

a) Proclamation Remembering Mary Ciuniq Pete (Vice-Mayor Williams)

b) Fiscal Year 2017 Annual Audit Presentation From The Auditing Firm Altman Rogers (City
Manager Williams)

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing Of Budget Ordinance 18-12(e): Amending The Adopted Annual FY 2019 Budget
(City Manager Williams) 

b) AM 18-73: Approve New Hours Of Operation For Christmas And New Year’s And Sundays At
The YK Fitness Center (City Manager Williams)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) *Resolution 18-20: Adopting A Code Of Conduct For Members Of The Bethel City Council 
(Council Member Barr) 

b) *Resolution18-21: United States Department of Agriculture- Rural Development Loan 
Resolution To Fund Water And Sewer Improvements In The Avenues (RUS Bulletin 1780-27) 
(Council Member Charles) 

c) *AM 18-74: Re-appointment of Committee and Commission Members (Mayor Watson) 

d) AM 18-75: Authorize And Approve City Administration To Issue Checks Totaling $25,525 To
Quarter 4 Community Action Grant Awardees Based On The Community Action Grant
Technical Review Board’s Recommendation (City Manager Williams)

e) AM 18-76: Approve Kenworth Alaska, Inc. As The Single Source Vendor For The Immediate
Purchase Of Six Water Haul Trucks That Will End When The Purchase Is Completed (City
Manager Williams)

f) AM 18-77: Direct Administration To Order Six (6) New Water Haul Trucks Pursuant To Single
Source Procurement Approval By Placing An Order And Down Payment For The Trucks,
Pursuing A Final Contract For Delivery, And Pursuing A Financing Package With Community
Leasing Partners (City Manager Williams)

g) AM 18-78: Direct Administration To Prepare And Submit A FY 2020 Community
Transportation Grant Application To Fund The Operation Of The Bethel Transit System With
$80,580 From The City’s FY 2020 Budget As Local Match (City Manager Williams)

p.5

P.15

P.16

p.23

p.29

p.32

p.39
p.49

p.50

p.51

p.61

p.64

mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pbarr@cityofbethel.net
mailto:cjordan@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fcharles@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on December 5, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing January 8, 2019. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
December 11, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

h) *IM 18-18: Presentation Of The City’s Water & Sewer Services Expenditures Compared To 
Budget From July 1, 2018 To November 30, 2018- Utilities Maintenance- Water & 
Wastewater Activity Report (City Manager Williams) 

i) *Leave Request-City Manager-December 24-29th (Mayor Watson) 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT
XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)2: Subjects That Tend To Prejudice The Reputation And
Character Of Any Person, Provided The Person May Request A Public Discussion – Annual
Evaluation, City Manager (Council Member Albertson)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.72

p.190



 

Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Regular Meeting 
November 27, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on November 27, 2018 at 6:30 
p.m., in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Watson called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Alyssa Gustafson – On behalf of the Public Works Committee, provided support to the 
development of piped water and sewer systems in the Avenues Subdivision.  
 
Bob White - Provided support to the development of piped water and sewer systems 
in the Avenues Subdivision. 
 
Mike Shantz- Recognized the council has a hard decision to make with regard to the 
avenues.  

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Parry Barr 

Vice-Mayor Thor Williams Council Member Carole Jung-Jordan 

Council Member Leif Albertson  

Council Member Mitchell Forbes    

Members Absent:   

Council Member Fritz T. Charles  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Brought up concerns related to the implementation of the house sign ordinance which 
goes into effect on December 11th. Thanked the water and sewer truck drivers 
working hard every day.  
 
Lorin Bradbury – Spoke in favor of piped services but hopes the council will consider 
options to have the piping underground, requested the council debate the issue and 
hire engineers to review the option.  
Suggested the City start discussing ways to encourage development in our community 
and encourage people to live here.  
 
Agnes Phillips- Requested the City purchase good winter gear for City employees 
working the water and sewer trucks. Thanked Tootsie Guinn for her service to the 
City.  
 
Mary Nanuwak – Provided frustration that no one or agency is willing to help her. Also 
announced that a cab driver is being disrespectful to her.  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Main Motion: Amend the agenda to move AM 18-73 to follow Special Order Of Business Item A. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Removal from 

Consent:  New Business Item A and B.  

Moved by: Forbes 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 

 
Item A – 10-23-2018 Regular City Council Meeting. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item B –-10-29-2018 Special City Council Meeting. 

6



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 

Public Safety and Transportation Commission 
No one available to provide a report. 
 
Port Commission 

Mayor Watson – A meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum. 
 
Planning Commission 
Vice-Mayor Williams- A meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee 
Council Member Forbes- Planning for the summer park and boardwalk maintenance. 
Discussed maintenance concerns at the pool.  
 
Finance Committee 
Council Member Barr-A meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum.  
 
Public Works Committee 
Council Member Jung-Jordan- A meeting was not held due to a lack of quorum.  
 
Community Action Grant Committee 
Council Member Albertson- A review meeting was held to consider three applications. 
Another review meeting will be held tomorrow night.  
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
Item A – Recognizing Margaret “Tootsie” Guinn For Her 40 Years Of Service As An 
Election Official. 

 

NEW BUSINESS  

 

Item F – AM 18-73: Approve New Hours Of Operation For Christmas And New Year’s 
And Sundays At The YK Fitness Center. 

 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-73. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Postpone 

 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Primary 
Amendment: Suspend the rules to hear from Facility Director Stacey Reardon.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Barr 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Main Motion: Motion to postpone until the next regular meeting.  

Moved by: Barr 
Seconded by: Williams  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  Forbes 

 

Item B – Avenues Neighborhood Presentation To City Council November 27, 2018. 

 
IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Item A – Introduction Of Ordinance 18-22: Authorizing The Disposal Of Property 
(Vacant Building Formerly Known As The Police Annex And/Or The Bojangles Building) 
Pursuant To BMC 4.08.030(A). 

 

Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 18-22. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Postpone  

 

Main Motion: Postpone until the second meeting in January.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item B – Public Hearing Of Ordinance 18-26: Amending The Official Map And Land 
Use Code. 

Mayor Watson opened the Public Hearing. 
Mary Nanuwak – Said that people want to see change.  

Mayor Watson closed the Public Hearing.  
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 18-26 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Barr 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

X. NEW BUSINESS 

 

Item A – Introduction Of Budget Ordinance 18-12(e): Amending The Adopted Annual 
FY 2019 Budget. 

 

Main Motion: Introduce Budget Ordinance 18-12(e). 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   

Opposed:  Williams   Jung-Jordan 

 

Primary 
Amendment: Amend to insert an increase to 10-52-799 in the amount $5,000. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Watson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  Williams   Albertson   

 

Secondary 
Amendment: 

Amend to insert a decrease to 01-10-100, the undesignated fund balance in the 
amount of $5,000.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Main Motion: Suspend the rules to hear from the Public Works Director, William Arnold.  

Moved by: Barr 
Seconded by: Jung- Jordan  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   Williams   Albertson   

Opposed: 0 

 

Item B – Resolution 18-18: USDA-RD Loan Resolution To Fund Water And Sewer 
Improvements In The Avenues (RUS Bulletin 1780-27). 

 

Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 18-18. 

Moved by: Forbes 

9



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 3-3  

In favor:  Albertson   Forbes   Barr   

Opposed:  Jung-Jordan   Williams   Watson   

 

Item C – Resolution 18-19: Confirming The State Of Alaska Archivists’ Long Term 
Storage Of Permanent Records, Microfilm Meeting Minutes From 1957 Through 2017. 

Passed on Consent Agenda 
 

Item D – AM 18-71: Authorization The Disposal Of Obsolete Surplus Fire Engine. 

 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-71. 

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Barr 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item E – AM 18-72: Approving the Amended Employment Agreement for the Part 
Time Assistant City Clerk Position. 

 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-72. 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Jung-Jordan 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item G – IM 18-17: Presentation Of The City's Water & Sewer Services Expenditures 

Compared To Budget From July 1, 2018 To October 31, 2018 – Utilities Maintenance – 
Water & Wastewater Activity Report. 

Passed on Consent Agenda. 
 

Item H – Leave Request- City Clerk- December 12-13, 24 2018; February 28-March 
8, 2019. 

Passed on Consent Agenda. 
 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

10



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  November 27, 2018 

Mayor Fred Watson –  
With regard to the opposition vote on the piped water, believes it is important to 
focus on the ASHA Housing area where health issues are a concern.  
Encouraged people to wear reflective clothing.  
Provided condolences to the family of Mary C. Pete for their loss.  
 
Vice-Mayor Thor Williams–  
Thanked his neighbor who brought up concerns with gear for City employees and 
stated concerns related to the issuance of wearing apparel to the employees.  
Also identified concerns of city employees not living in the community full time; it isn’t 
good for the community.  
 
Council Member Leif Albertson – 
Disappointed in the council’s decision to pass up millions of dollars for the water and 
sewer projects.  
 
Council Member Mitchell Forbes– 
Encouraged people to wear reflective clothing.   
 
Council Member Parry Barr–  
No comment.  
 
Council Member Carole Jordan– 
No comment.  
 

XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Jung-Jordan 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Watson   Williams   Albertson   Forbes   Barr   Jung-Jordan   

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 10:19 p.m. 
 

_________________________ 
Fred Watson, Mayor  

 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

11



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12



PUBLIC NOTICE 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

PUBLIC SAFETY & TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
Wednesday, December 5th, 2018 –6:30 p.m. 

300 STATE HIGHWAY – CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
AGENDA 

City of Bethel Police Dept. 
PO Box 809 

Bethel, AK 99559 
Office| 543-3781    Fax| 543-5086 

Members 
Jared Karr 

Chair 

 

Fritz Charles 

Council Representative 

 

Joan Dewey 

 

Monroe Tyler 

  

 

Ex-Officio Members 

 

Burke Waldron 

Chief of Police 

 

William Howell III 

Fire Chief 

 

Jesslyn McGowan 

Recorder 

 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL   

III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD 

IV. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

V.     APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING OF  

     April 4, May 2, June 6, July 5, August 1, September 5, October 3, November 7 

 

VI.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 A. Update on Transportation Planning (City Manager)  

 B. Commission Guidelines and Standards for Meeting Conduct (Chair) 

 C. Update on Tracking Cellphone calls to 911 (Chief Waldron) 

 D. Markers around Pinky’s Park to Help Solve Problem of Reporting Locations 

 within the Park 

 E. Ordinance for Addresses (Chief Howell) 

VII.  NEW BUSINESS 

 A. Long Range Transportation Plan Ideas (Chief Waldron)  

 

VIII.      CHIEFS’ COMMENTS 

Fire Chief  

Chief of Police 

 

IX. TRANSPORTATION INSPECTOR’S REPORT 

X. COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVE’S COMMENTS 

XI.  COMMISSION MEMBER’S COMMENTS 

XII.  ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________ 

Jesslyn McGowan, Recorder 
POSTED on November 28, 2018  
POST OFFICE, AC QUICKSTOP, CORINA’S CASE LOT, CITY HALL, & POLICE DEPT. 

Next Public Safety and Transportation Commission Meeting will be January 2nd, 2019 

“Deep Sea Port and Transportation Center of the Kuskokwim” 

13



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

14



 
 

City of Bethel Proclamation 
 

REMEMBERING MARY CIUNIQ PETE 

WHEREAS,  Mary Ciuniq Pete was a strong leader with a caring heart, who dedicated her entire life to 
serving the region she loved; 

WHEREAS,  as a board member of the Tundra Women’s Coalition (TWC), Mary was an early advocate for 
the shelter from its early days as a quonset hut with a crisis line to the current state-of-the-art 
33 bed facility with nine support programs; 

WHEREAS,  Mary expanded her advocacy efforts to the state level as a member of the Alaska Council on 
Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault where she was able to speak for rural Alaska and 
demonstrate the need for increased state and federal funding for domestic violence and sexual 
assault awareness and prevention; 

WHEREAS,  Mary’s commitment to remote Alaska was observed in her work as the State of Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Director of the Subsistence Division where she spent nine 
years, under three governors advancing subsistence rights in the State;    

WHEREAS,      as an academic, she worked diligently to expand and enhance the applied field-based rural 
development bachelor’s degree program at the University of Alaska Fairbanks enabling 
students to stay close to home as they continued their education in fields that would help build 
stronger rural communities; 

WHEREAS,       when she became Director of the University of Alaska Fairbanks Kuskokwim Campus (KUC), 
she continued to grow the educational opportunities available on campus to certificate 
courses, occupational endorsement programs, associate degree programs, and bachelor 
degree programs while embodying the campus mission to prepare professional, community, 
and cultural leaders in an active and relevant learning environment; 

WHEREAS,  Mary advocated for Bethel and the region through her position on the U.S. Arctic Research 
Commission wherein she advocated for resource protection, subsistence harvests, and helped 
ensure the commission understood the importance of Native Alaskan cultural lifestyles; 

WHEREAS,  Mary loved Bethel for its richness in the Yupik Culture which is why she choose to make Bethel 
home for her and her family; her devotion to the community and cultural was a strong 
motivation in many of the decisions she made in life;   

WHEREAS,  Mary Ciuniq Pete inspired and touched many lives and always led by example; the community 
morns the loss of a truly exceptional person while also celebrating and remembering all that 
she had done for the community, region, and state. 

 
Mary Ciuniq Pete, our community will miss you. You will be in our hearts forever. 

 

 
         _____________________________ 
                                                                        Fred Watson, Mayor 
 Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk    

15



 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

Letter to the Governing Board 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2017 
 

 

16



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Bethel 
 

Letter to the Governing Board 

 
Year Ended June 30, 2017 

17



 
 

425 G Street               Suite 800               Anchorage, Alaska 99501              Phone 907-274-2992               Fax 907-274-2993 
Offices in Juneau and Soldotna                                                           A Professional Corporation 

 

 

August 28, 2018 

 

 

Members of the City Council 

City of Bethel 

Bethel, Alaska 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining funds information of City of Bethel (the City) as of 

and for the year ended June 30, 2017.  Professional standards require that we provide you with 

information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government 

Auditing Standards, Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative 

Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), and the 

State of Alaska Audit Guide and Compliance Supplement for State Single Audits, as well as certain 

information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 

information in our letter to you dated March 6, 2018. Professional standards also require that we 

communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 

 

Significant Accounting Policies and Transactions 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 

accounting policies used by the City are described in Note I to the financial statements.  No new 

accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2017.  

We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 

guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in 

the proper period.  

 

Accounting Estimates 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 

based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 

about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of the possibility that 

future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates 

affecting the government wide financial statements were: 

 

Government-wide, Business-type Activities and Enterprise Funds Opinion Units  

Management’s estimate of the useful lives and depreciation is based upon the expected life of an 

asset.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the useful lives and 

depreciation expense in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a 

whole. 
 

18



Members of the Governing Board 
City of Bethel 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

 

Management’s estimates of the City’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability and 

related deferred outflows and inflows of resources are based on information furnished by the State 

of Alaska and actuarial reports generated during the audit of the Public Employees’ Retirement 

System.  The amortization of these deferrals is based on guidance provided by the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the 

estimates of the City’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liability and deferred 

outflows and inflows of resources and related amortization in determining that it is reasonable in 

relation to the financial statements as a whole. 

 

Business-type Activities and Enterprise Funds Opinion Units 

Management’s estimate of landfill usage to calculate the liability for the closure and post closure of 

the landfill.  These estimates are based on engineering surveys.  We evaluated the key factors and 

assumptions used to develop the estimated liability for the closure and post closure activities of the 

landfill to determine its reasonableness in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

All Opinion Units  

Management’s estimate of the collectability of accounts receivable is based on historical collections 

and analysis of individual balances.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 

develop the estimated allowance in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial 

statements taken as a whole. 

 

Financial Statement Disclosures 

The financial statements disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered significant delays in receiving required audit documentation, which resulted in 

significant delays in completing our audit. 

 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during 

the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 

management.  The following misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures were corrected by 

management:  

 $58,309 adjustment to deferred revenue for sales taxes receivables not collected. 

 $195,330 to move endowment funds transferred to central treasury back to endowment 

 $3,085,325 various accounts to adjust for the GO Bond Defeasement.  

Summarized below are misstatements that management has determined to be immaterial, both 

individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole.  These misstatements were 

not corrected by management: 

 $16,175 expenditures classified incorrectly. 

19



Members of the Governing Board 
City of Bethel 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

 

Disagreements with Management 

For the purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting or 

auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction that could be significant to the financial 

statements or the auditors’ report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during 

the course of the audit. 

 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 

representation letter dated August 28, 2018. 

 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation 

involves application of an accounting principle to the City’s financial statements or a determination of 

the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards 

require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant 

facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

 

Internal Controls 

See the June 30, 2017 financial statements, compliance reports for the definition and description of 

deficiencies, significant deficiencies, material weaknesses and any reported findings. 

 

Accounting Assistance 

As part of our engagement we drafted the basic financial statements of the City from the City’s 

accounting records; however, management of the City was involved in the drafting process and retains 

responsibility for the basic financial statements. 

 

Other Audit Findings or issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 

auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s auditors.  

However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 

responses were not a condition to our retention. 

 

Supplementary Information Accompanying the Financial Statements 

We applied certain limited procedures to the, Budgetary Comparison Schedules, and Schedules of the 

City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability and the City’s Contributions to the Public 

Employees’ Retirement System, which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements 

the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 

methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 

management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 

obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not 

express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

 

20



Members of the Governing Board 
City of Bethel 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

 

We were engaged to report on the information listed in the table of contents as “Additional 

Supplementary Information”, which includes the Non-major Governmental Funds: Combining Balance 

Sheet and Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances; General 

Fund: Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget and Actual; Non-

major Special Revenue Funds: Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

– Budget and Actual (where applicable); Proprietary Funds: Statements of Net Position, Statements of 

Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and Statements of Cash Flows; the Schedule of 

Expenditures of Federal Awards and Schedule of State Financial Assistance, which accompany the 

financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain 

inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 

determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the 

information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 

compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 

prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, members of the 

governing board and others within the organization and is not intended to be and should not be used 

by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

Sincerely 

 
Anchorage, Alaska 

21



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22



Introduced by:

Introduction Date:

Public Hearing:

Action:

Vote:

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Whereas; Multiple new employees who require training in order to obtain certification as well as 3 employees

who require training to renew DEC Certificates

Whereas;

Multiple new employees will require us to purchase all new work and safety apparel as well as 

replacement gear for senior employees

Whereas;

Several projects have occcurred which have consumed our onsite parts inventory, which needs to be 

replenished, as well as additional funds for future maintenance and unplanned repairs

Whereas;

Aging fleet of work vehicles have required addditional maintenance and repairs to keep them operating 

in a safe and reliable mannner. Several of the vehicles will require more repairs, new tires, and 

maintenance due to road conditions in Bethel

Whereas;

Leak repairs, fire hydrant repairs and necessary tools/equipment repair and upgrades are required for 

the piped water department to operate. Many of the projects have occurred and consumed onsite 

inventory of parts that need to be restocked for emergency backup. No funding was provided for this 

line item in the FY19 original budget.

BUDGET MODIFICATION (A)

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-82-545 Training/Travel 5,000 

51-82-563 Wearing Apparel 1,500 

51-82-592 Plumbing Supplies 15,000 

51-82-601 Vehicle Maintenance 5,000 

51-82-683 Minor Equipment 25,000 

Total Increases 51,500 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (51,500)

Total Decreases (51,500)

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Whereas;

New water plant operators will require training for state certification. Each course costs $3000.-$3500. 

per student to attend (course, flights, hotel, food, etc.)

Whereas;

Need additional funds for supplies to operate at Bethel Heights Water Treatment Plant. Office supplies, 

cleaning supplies, logbooks, computer supplies, etc.

Whereas;

Several projects have occurred which have consumed our funds for minor equipment. Water supply welll 

removal, replacement, rebuild, and motor starter replacement as well as several electrical issues which 

required specialized troubleshooting by electricians and instrumentation professionals.

Peter Williams, City 

Manager

November 27, 2018

ORDINANCE 18-12 (e )

PIPED WATER

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 

2018, July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019.

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2019 Budget

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY 2019 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

1 of 623



CITY SUB WATER TREATMENT PLANT

BUDGET MODIFICATION (B)

ACCOUNT# Increases

51-83-545 Training/Travel 3,000 

51-83-561 Supplies 1,500 

51-83-683 Minor Equipment 10,000 

Total Increases 14,500 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (14,500)

Total Decreases (14,500)

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Whereas;

New water plant operators will require training for for state certification. Each course costs $3000.-

$3500. per student to attend (course, flights, hotel, food, etc.)

Whereas;

Several projects have occurred which have consumed our funds for minor equipment. Chemical pump 

rebuild and replacement, as welll as several electrical issues which required specialized troubleshooting 

by electrician and instrumentation professionals

BETHEL HEIGHTS WATER TREATMENT PLANT

BUDGET MODIFICATION ©

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-84-545 Training/Travel 3,500 

51-84-683 Minor Equipment 5,000 

Total Increases 8,500 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (8,500)

Total Decreases (8,500)

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Whereas;

Multiple employees who will require training to obtain recertification and/or new certifications before the 

end of 2019

Whereas;

Multiple projects have consumed onsite inventory as well as having to purchase supplies. Need to 

replenish onsite inventory as well as have funds to purchase additional plumbing supplies for upcoming 

projects

Whereas;

Aging fleet of work vehicles have required additional maintenance and repairs to keep them operating in 

a safe and reliable manner. Several of the vehicles will require more repairs, new tires, and maintenance 

due to road conditions in Bethel.

PIPED SEWER

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-86-545 Training/Travel 6,000 

51-86-592 Plumbing Supplies 8,000 

51-86-601 Vehicle Maintenance 5,000 

51-86-683 Minor Equipment 30,000 

Total Increases 49,000 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (49,000)

Total Decreases (49,000)

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

BUDGET MODIFICATION (D)

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

2 of 624



Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

Whereas;

Multiple employees who will require training to obtain recertification and/or new certifications before the 

end of 2019

Whereas;

Multiple new employees will require us to purchase all new work and safety apparel as well as 

replacement gear for senior employees

SEWER LAGOON

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-87-545 Training/Travel 3,000 

51-87-563 Wearing Apparel 1,500 

Total Increases 4,500 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (4,500)

Total Decreases (4,500)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

WHEREAS, the Bethel City Council has stated that enforcement of trespassers on 

City Vacant lands should be a priority of the legal department this year;

WHEREAS, in order to evict trespassers and/or to deal with expired leases, the legal

department will need to have surveys and appraisals conducted

WHEREAS, among the elements in a Forcible Entry and Detainer (FED) [eviction] proceeding

is proof of ownership of the land & parameters of ownership

WHEREAS, given the spotty mapping out here, the unreliable plats and the documented

constant change in land caused when trails, streets and roads move due to 

time, it has become increasingly necessary to use up-to-date surveys

in most FED's for vacant land

WHEREAS, one element of an FED is damages, how much the City suffered by the 

unauthorized use of its land

WHEREAS, damages are ascertained by a current appraisal of Fair Market Rents

WHEREAS, this same appraisal can be utilized as a basis for the proper disposal

(whether via lease or sale) of the property and is required for a proper

disposal by BMC 4.08.040

WHEREAS, An initial review of vacant lands and lapsed leases has identified 12 surveys

and 12 appraisals needed to start

WHEREAS, the average cost of a survey is $3,100 and the average cost of an 

appraisal is $3,300

BETHEL - LEGAL DEPARTMENT

Budget modification (f)

Account # Increases Amount

10-56-649 Other Purchased Services $134,400

Total Increases $134,400

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 

2018, July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019.

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

BUDGET MODIFICATION €

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

3 of 625



Decreases

01-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Central Treasury (134,000)

Total Decreases ($134,400)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas; The City's boilers are 30 + years old.

Whereas; OSHA required the Public Works Building to have an Air Handler

Whereas; To accommodate an Air Handler the boilers need to be twice as large.

Whereas;

We have spent $160,000 on Mechanical Structural Project Management and procurement of the 

boilers.

Whereas; We have $210,000 left of the original budget of $370,000.

Whereas; The  projected cost of the project is $870000.

Whereas;

The building the boiler is housed in is shared by Hauled Water and Sewer, Planning, Streets and 

Roads, Property Maintenance, Vehicles & Equipment and Public Works Administration.

UTILITY BILLING

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-80-777 Boiler System & HVAC Rebuild 500,000 

Total Increases 500,000 

Decreases

01-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Central Treasury (250,000)

51-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Water and Sewer Services (250,000)

Total Decreases (500,000)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas;

The City has two buildings that need a Hazardous Building Materials Survey(HBMS) the Former 

Laundry Mat and Former Police Barracks in preparation for Demolition

Property Maintenance

ACCOUNT # Increases

10-70-669 Other Purchased Services 6,175 

Total Increases 6,175 

Decreases

01-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Central Treasury (6,175)

Total Decreases (6,175)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas;

The City needs to purchase a new water truck and needs a good faith pmt of $225000. to order 

truck for delivery FY20

Budget Modification (h)

Budget Modification (g)

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

4 of 626



Hauled Water

ACCOUNT # Increases

51-81-690 Water Trucks 225,000 
Total Increases 225,000 

Decreases

51-10100 Water & Sewer Services/Cash in Combined Fund (225,000)

Total Decreases (225,000)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas; Streets and Roads needs a brush cutter to clear the culverts.

Whereas; The Port needs a brush cutter to clean the Riverfront.

PROPERTY MAINTENANCE

ACCOUNT # Increases

10-70-683 Minor Equipment 12,350 
Total Increases 12,350 

Decreases

52-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Municipal Dock (6,175)

51-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Water & Sewer Services (6,175)

Total Decreases (12,350)

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas; The Landfill is in need of material to cover construction material and debri.

Whereas; The Landfill has been found to be deficient in adequately covering the trash from the dumpsters.

Whereas; The DEC has required the City to keep a stockpile of covering material.

Whereas; Every Spring during Clean-Up Green_Up the City is short Personell to cleanup around dumpsters, Streets and Roads, etc.

Landfill Operations

ACCOUNT # Increases

50-71-669 Other Purchased Services/Cover Material 15,000

50-71-501 Salaries and Benefits 11,520

Total Increases 26,520 

Decreases

50-10100 Cash in Combined Fund/Solid Waster Services (26,520)

Total Decreases

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas The Fire Department has no need for a transmission replacement account in Capital

Budget Modification (k)

Budget Modification (i)

Budget Modification (j)

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

5 of 627



Whereas These funds are needed to maintain the fire department fleet at traditionla levels of funding

Whereas The Department's Vehicle Maint. Services fund was reduced by $8000 to create this account

Whereas It is likely that the departmetn would exhaust funds currently budgeted for FY19 vehicle 

maintenance without the requested budget modification.

Whereas

This budget modification will return available vehicle maintenance funds to FY 18 levels and is budget 

neutral.

budget neutral.

Account # Decrease

10-60-699 Transmission Replacement  (Capital)

Total Decrease (8,000)

Increase

10-60-601 Vehicle parts

Total Increase 8,000 

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

Whereas All Firefighter/EMT positions should be Public Safety Rancge Two (PS2), One Fire Department 

FF/EMT position  is not.

Whereas This situation has created inequity of pay between Fire Department Employees in the same class 

with the same work load and level of responsibility.

Whereas This position also did not receive budgeting sufficient to cover probationay and annual inceases

in accordance with the COBEA bargaining agreement.

Whereas The cost to the General Fund to correct the salary and benefits for this employee is $6757.00

Fire Department

Account # Decrease

01-10-100 Cash in Combined Fund/Central Treasury (6,757)

Total Decrease (6,757)

Increase

10-60-502 Salary and Benefits

Total Increase 6,757 

TOTAL Net change to Fire Department Personnel 6,757 

City Clerk's Office 

Account # Increase 

10-52-799 Other Purchased Services 5,000 

Total Increases 5,000 

Decreases

01-10-100 Cash in combined Fund/Centeral Treasury (5,000)

Total Decreases (5,000)

TOTAL Net change to City Clerk's Office Budget 5,000 

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS __ DAY OF            BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:                                                                                           ____________________________________

                                                                       Fred Watson, Mayor

_____________________________

Lori Strickler, City Clerk

Fire Department 60

Budget Modification (l)

Budget Modification (m)

Budget Modification (n)

City of Bethel
Ordinance  18-12(e)

6 of 628



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Approve new hours of operation for Christmas and New Year’s and Sundays at 
the YK Fitness Center. 

Attachment(s): Page 1 of 9, YKFC Monthly Report, November 2018 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams PW 

Public Works / Bill Arnold WA 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

X Fiscal impact unknown at this time. NA 

Funds in City Budget. 

Requires funding in FY 2019 Budget. 

Summary Statement 

The Yukon Kuskokwim Fitness Center manager Stacey Reardon plans to institute the following 
hours of operation for the holidays and Sundays, per Bethel City Council approval: 

Proposed Current 

Christmas Day After 12/26 2p-9p 6a-9p 

New Year’s Eve 12/31 5:30a-4p 9a-4p 

Sundays 2p-9p 10a-9p 

The changes are due to low patron numbers and staffing shortages on Sunday mornings and 
general operating experience and familiarity with customer base. 

Action memorandum No. 18-73
Date action introduced: November 27, 2018 Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 

Confirmed by: 

29



30



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

31



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    1 of 7  

    

   

CITY OF BETHEL 
 

Resolution # 18-20 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL ADOPTING A CODE 
OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS OF THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council, of the City of Bethel, Alaska deems it advisable to adopt a 
Code of Conduct for Members of the City Council;  

WHEREAS, the citizens and businesses of Bethel are entitled to have council members 
who treat one another, city staff, constituents and others with respect; 

WHEREAS, the Code of Conduct requires a commitment to uphold a standard of integrity 
beyond that required by law; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: the City of Bethel City Council hereby 
establishes the following City Council Code of Conduct. Any amendment thereto must be 
done by Resolution.  

City of Bethel Code of Conduct for Elected Officials 
It is the policy of the City of Bethel to uphold, promote, and demand the highest 
standards of ethics from its elected officials. Accordingly, members of the Council shall 
maintain the utmost standards of personal integrity, trustfulness, honesty, and fairness 
in carrying out their public duties, avoid any improprieties in their roles as public 
servants, comply with all applicable laws, and never use their City position or authority 
improperly or for personal gain. The City of Bethel and its elected officials share a 
commitment to ethical conduct and service to the City of Bethel. This Code of Conduct 
has been created to ensure that all officials have clear guidelines for carrying out their 
responsibilities in their relationships with each other, with the City staff, with the citizens 
of Bethel, and with all other private and governmental entities. 

 
TYPE OF GOVERNMENT  
The City of Bethel municipal government operates under a council-manager form of 

government. Under this form of government, the Council provides legislative direction 

through the adoption of ordinances, resolutions and general direction to Administration 

by a majority vote of the Council. The City Manager serves as the City's chief 

administrative officer and is responsible for directing the day-to-day operations of the 

City.  

CITY COUNCIL MEMBER’S ROLE 

32



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    2 of 7  

    

All seven council members have equal votes. No one council member has more 
power than any other council member does either during or outside of a meeting. A 
majority vote of four is required for every council action.  

 
All Council members should: 
• Fully participate in City Council, their assigned committee meetings and other 

public forums while demonstrating respect, kindness, consideration, and 
courtesy to others. 

• Prepare in advance of meetings and be familiar with issues on the agenda. 
• Be respectful of other people’s time. Stay focused and act efficiently during public 

meetings. 
• Inspire public confidence in Bethel’s government. 

 
Mayor 
• The mayor is the ceremonial head of the City and shall preside at meetings of the 

council, sign all ordinances and resolutions passed by the Council and execute deeds 
and other documents on behalf of the City when authorized by the majority of the 
Council.  

• The mayor may vote on all matters unless there is a conflict of interest. 

• In a council-manager form of government, the Mayor has the same rights and duties 
outside of a council meeting as every other council member except the Mayor has 
the right to call special city council meetings. 

 
Vice-Mayor 
• Elected by the City Council  
• The vice-mayor shall have the powers and perform the duties of the mayor during 

the mayor’s absence from the City or the temporary disability of the mayor. 
• The vice-mayor may vote on all matters unless there is a conflict of interest. 

 

COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH ONE ANOTHER 
Councils are composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities, 
values, opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, all have chosen to serve in public 
office in order to preserve and protect the present and the future of the community. In 
doing so, certain types of conduct are beneficial while others are destructive. The 
Council has the responsibility to treat each other with respect and dignity.   

 
In Public Meetings  
Practice civility, professionalism and decorum in discussions and debate. 

Difficult questions, tough challenges to a particular point of view, and criticism of 
ideas and information are legitimate elements of a free democracy in action. This does 
not allow, however, council members to make belligerent, personal, impertinent, 
slanderous, threatening, abusive, or disparaging comments. Council members should 

33



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    3 of 7  

    

conduct themselves in a professional manner at all times. 
 
Honor the role of the Mayor in maintaining order 

It is the responsibility of the Mayor to keep the comments of Council members on 
track during public meetings. Council members should honor efforts by the Mayor to 
focus discussion on current agenda items. If there is disagreement about the 
agenda or the Mayor’s actions, those objections should be voiced politely and with 
reason, following procedures outlined in parliamentary procedure. 

 
Be punctual and keep comments relative to topics discussed 

Council members have made a commitment to attend meetings and partake in 
discussions. Therefore, it is important that council members be punctual and that 
meetings start on time. It is equally important that discussions on issues be relative 
to the topic at hand to allow adequate time to fully discuss scheduled issues. 

 
In Private Encounters  
The same level of respect and consideration of differing points of view that is 
deemed appropriate for public discussions should be maintained in private 
conversations between other council members, staff and the public. 
 
Be aware of the insecurity of written notes, voicemail messages, and e-mail 

Technology allows words written or said without much forethought to be distributed 
wide and far. Written notes, voicemail messages and e-mail should be treated as 
potentially "public" communication. 
 

Council Conduct with City Staff 
Governance of a City relies on the cooperative efforts of elected officials, who set 
laws and pass budgets, and City staff, who implement and administer those laws 
within the budget set. Therefore, every effort should be made to be cooperative and 
show mutual respect for the contributions made by each individual for the good of the 
community. 
 
Treat all staff as professionals 

Clear, honest communication that respects the abilities, experience, and dignity of 
each individual is expected.  

 

Contact with City Staff 

Questions and/or requests for additional background information should be directed to 
the City Manager, City Attorney, City Clerk or Department Heads. Council members 
do not have the authority to direct operations of the City outside of a public meeting 
and by a majority vote. Council members may also not get involved in personnel issues 

34



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    4 of 7  

    

outside of the three contracted employees. Pursuant to AS 29.20.500, the management 
of personnel is the responsibility of the City Manager.   
 
Council members should be cognizant that the council only has three employees: the 
City Manager, the City Attorney and the City Clerk.  Direction to City staff should be 
done by request to the City Manager.  Direction to the Council employees is a council 
action and requires a majority vote. No one council member has the authority to direct 
a council staff person to act on any matter. Qualified immunity laws protect City Council 
actions as a body, not as an individual. Insurance coverage by the City’s carrier is 
dependent on these laws and will depend on the City Council member adhering to the 
majority rule.   
 

Council members should not disrupt City staff while they are in meetings, on the 
phone, or engrossed in performing their job functions in order to have their individual 
needs met. 
 
There may be times when city staff go to council members to complain about 
administrative functions before the issue is brought to their supervisor. While it is within 
the right of the staff and council to have this discussion, the employee should be 
reminded of the importance of the chain of command and encouraged to bring the issue 
up with their supervisor as well. It is additionally productive for council members to then 
inform the city manager of the complaint/issue to ensure the issue is timely addressed. 
If the issue is a personnel matter involving an employee inside the collective bargaining 
agreement, per Alaska and federal collective bargaining laws, the council member 
should direct the employee to their Union. Council members must be very careful about 
getting involved with personnel matters as there are significant legal liabilities if the lines 
are crossed.  Because the management of personnel falls by statute to the city 
manager, council members who get involved in personnel matters risk not being 
covered by qualified immunity and the City’s insurance policies.  

 
Never publicly criticize an individual employee 

Council should never express concerns about the performance of a City employee in 
public, to the employee directly, or to the employee’s manager. Comments about staff 
performance should only be made to the City Manager through private correspondence 
or conversation. 
 

Council Conduct with the Public 
In public meetings.  

Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the democratic process. Body 
language and facial expressions are often carefully watched by the public.  No signs 
of partiality, prejudice or disrespect should be evident on the part of individual 
Council members toward an individual participating in a public forum. Every effort 

35



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    5 of 7  

    

should be made to be fair and impartial in listening to public testimony.  A pattern of 
turning away, laughing, ignoring or talking to the person next to you when a particular 
member of the public is before the council shows disrespect and presents a poor image 
of impartiality and respect towards the public process.   
 
No speaker will be turned away unless they exhibit inappropriate behavior. Each speaker 
may only speak once during people to be heard or a public hearing unless the Council 
approves otherwise by a suspension of the rules which must pass by a 2/3rds vote.  
 
Council members should also avoid getting into a debate or detailed discussion with the 
public during people to be heard or a public hearing.  

 
No personal attacks of any kind, under any circumstance 

Council members should be aware that their body language and tone of voice, as 
well as the words they use, can appear to be intimidating or aggressive. 
 

In unofficial settings 
Council members will frequently be asked to explain a Council action or to give their 
opinion about an issue as they meet and talk with constituents in the community. It is 
appropriate to give a brief overview of City policy and to refer to City staff for further 
information. It is inappropriate to overtly or implicitly promise Council action, or to 
promise City staff will do something specific. 
 
 

Council Conduct with Other Public Agencies 
Be clear about representing the City or personal interests 

If a Councilmember appears before another agency or organization to give a 
statement on an issue, the Council member must clearly state: 

1) if the statement reflects personal opinion or is the official stance of the City; 
2) whether this is the majority or minority opinion of the Council. Even if the 

Council member is representing his or her own personal opinions, remember 
that this still may reflect upon the City as an organization. 

 
If the Council member is representing the City, the council member must support and 
advocate the official City position on an issue, not a personal viewpoint. 
 
If the Council member is representing another organization whose position is different 
from the City, the Council member should withdraw from voting on the issue if it 
significantly impacts or is detrimental to the City’s interest. Council members should be 
clear about which organizations they represent and inform the Council of their 
involvement. Correspondence also should be equally clear about representation. 
 
City letterhead may be used when the Council member is representing the City and 

36



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    6 of 7  

    

the City’s official position. A copy of official correspondence must be given to the city 
clerk to be distributed to the other council members and filed as a public record. 
 
Letterhead may not be used for correspondence of council members representing a 
personal point of view, or a dissenting point of view from an official council position. 
 

 

Council Conduct with Committees and Commissions 
The City has established several committees and commissions as a means of gathering 
more community input. Citizens who serve on committees and commissions become 
more involved in government and serve as advisors to the city council. They are a 
valuable resource to the City’s leadership and should be treated with appreciation and 
respect. 
 
City Council Representative seated on Committees and Commissions 

City council members act as the conduit between the city council and the City’s boards. 
Each committee and commission will have one member of council assigned as a voting 
member. This council member will communicate the committees/commission actions to 
the Council and the Council’s actions to the committee/commission. If the 
committee/commission presents an action to the Council, the council representative will 
present the item on behalf of the committee/commission. If the council member does 
not agree with the presented action, they must still fully explain the 
committee/commission’s position on the issue and may then present their own 
viewpoints after clearly acknowledging they are not representing the 
committee/commission.  
 
Boards and Commissions serve the community, not individual Council 
members 
The City Council appoints individuals to serve on committees and commission, and 
it is the responsibility of these bodies to follow policy established by the Council. 
However committee and commission members do not report to individual Council 
members. If a council member would like a committee/commission to review an issue, 
the direction should be brought before the city council and a motion to refer to a 
committee/commission made and approved by a majority of the body.  
 

Council Conduct with the Media 
Council members may be contacted by the media for background and quotes. The best 
advice for dealing with the media is to never go "off the record." While most members of 
the media represent the highest levels of journalistic integrity and ethics, and can be 
trusted to keep their word, just one bad experience can be catastrophic. Words that 
are not said cannot be quoted. If an individual council member is contacted by the 
media, the member should be clear about whether their comments represent the 

37



 Introduced by: Council Member Barr 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-20 

    7 of 7  

    

official City position or a personal viewpoint. 
 
Comments taken out of context can cause problems. Be especially cautious about 
humor, sardonic asides, sarcasm, or word play. It is never appropriate to use 
personal slurs or swear words when talking with the media. 
 
 

Sanctions 
Public Disruption 

When a member of the public does not  follow proper conduct, the appropriate 
response is to request the Mayor find them out of order.  Only the mayor has the 
authority to find a speaker out of order and only the mayor may issue warnings or 
impose sanctions such as removal from the Council Chambers. 
 
Inappropriate Staff Behavior 

If a Council member has a situation with a city staff member not following proper 
conduct, the council member shall refer the matter to the city manager. These 
employees may be disciplined in accordance with standard City procedures for such 
actions.  A report of the action taken will not be provided in keeping with employment 
laws. 
 
Inappropriate behavior of contract employees should be brought to the attention of the 
employee then before the full Council during an Executive Session.  
 

Inappropriate Council Members Behavior 

If a council member is observed acting outside the standards of this Code of Conduct, 
the process outlined in Chapter 2.06 of the Bethel Municipal Code shall commence.  
 
ENACTED THIS __ DAY OF DECEMBER 2018 BY A VOTE OF _ IN FAVOR AND 
_OPPOSED.  
 
 
 ___________________________  
 Fred Watson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk  

38



 Introduced by: Council Member Charles 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

{00851768}City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-21 

    1 of 4  

    

   

CITY OF BETHEL 
Resolution # 18-21 

 
USDA-RD LOAN RESOLUTION TO FUND 

WATER AND SEWER IMPROVEMENTS IN THE AVENUES 
(RUS Bulletin 1780-27) 

 

WHEREAS,  this resolution authorizes and provides for the incurrence of indebtedness for 
the purpose of providing a portion of the cost of acquiring, constructing, 
enlarging, improving, and/or extending its water and sewer utility facility to 
serve an area lawfully within its jurisdiction to serve; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary for the City of Bethel (herein after called City) to raise a portion 
of the cost of such undertaking by issuance of its bonds in the principal amount 
of Eight Million Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars pursuant to 
the provisions of the City’s Municipal Code and State Law; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to obtain assistance from the United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA-RD) (herein after called the Government) acting under the 
provisions of the Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Act (7 U.S.C. 
1921 et seq.) in the planning, financing, and supervision of such undertaking 
and the purchasing of bonds lawfully issued, in the event that no other 
acceptable purchaser for such bonds is found by the City; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Bethel City Council hereby resolves: 

1. To have prepared on its behalf and to adopt an ordinance or resolution for the 
issuance of its bonds containing such items and in such forms as are required 
by State statutes and as are agreeable and acceptable to the Government. 
 

2. To refinance the unpaid balance, in whole or in part, of its bonds upon the 
request of the Government if at any time it shall appear to the Government 
that the City is able to refinance its bonds by obtaining a loan for such 
purposes from responsible cooperative or private sources at reasonable rates 
and terms for loans for similar purposes and periods of time as required by 
section 333(c) of said Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Act (7 U.S.C. 
1983 (c)). 

 

3. To provide for, execute, and comply with Form RD 400-4, “Assurance 
Agreement,” and Form RD 400-1, “Equal Opportunity Agreement,” including 
an “Equal Opportunity Clause,” which clause is to be incorporated in, or 
attached to a rider to, each construction contract and subcontract involving in 
excess of $10,000. 

39



 Introduced by: Council Member Charles 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

{00851768}City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-21 

    2 of 4  

    

 

4. "To the extent permitted by Alaska law, to indemnify the Government for any 

payments made or losses suffered by the Government on behalf of the City. 
Such indemnification shall be payable from the same source of funds pledged 
to pay the bonds or any other legally permissible source. 

 

5. That upon default in the payments of any principal and accrued interest on the 
bonds or in the performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein 
or in the instruments incident to making or insuring the loan, the Government 
at its option may (a) declare the entire principal amount then outstanding and 
accrued interest immediately due and payable, (b) for the account of the City 
(payable from the source of funds pledged to pay the bonds or any other 
legally permissible source), incur and pay reasonable expenses for repair, 
maintenance, and operation of the facility and such other reasonable 
expenses as may be necessary to cure the cause of the default, and/or (c) 
take possession of the facility, repair, maintain, and operate or rent it. Default 
under the provisions of this resolution or any instrument incident to the making 
or insuring of the loan may be construed by the Government to constitute 
default under any other instrument held by the Government and executed or 
assumed by the City, and default under any such instrument may be construed 
by the Government to constitute default hereunder. 
 

6. Not to sell, transfer, lease, or otherwise encumber the facility or any portion 
thereof, or interest therein, or permit others to do so, without the prior written 
consent of the Government. 

 

7. Not to defease the bonds, or to borrow money, enter into any contractor 
agreement, or otherwise incur any liabilities for any purpose in connection 
with the facility (exclusive of normal maintenance) without the prior written 
consent of the Government if such undertaking would involve the source of 
funds pledged to pay the bonds. 

 

8. To place the proceeds of the bonds on deposit in an account and in a manner 
approved by the Government. Funds may be deposited in institutions insured 
by the State or Federal Government or invested in readily marketable 
securities backed by the full faith and credit of the United States. Any income 
from these accounts will be considered as revenues of the system. 

 

9. To comply with all applicable State and Federal laws and regulations and to 
continually operate and maintain the facility in good condition. 

 

10. To provide for the receipt of adequate revenues to meet the requirements of 
debt service, operation and maintenance, and the establishment of adequate 
reserves. Revenue accumulated over and above that needed to pay operating 
and maintenance, debt service and reserves may only be retained or used to 

40



 Introduced by: Council Member Charles 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

{00851768}City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-21 

    3 of 4  

    

make prepayments on the loan. Revenue cannot be used to pay any expenses 
which are not incurred for the facility financed by USDA. No fee service or use 
of the facility will be permitted. 

 

11. To acquire and maintain such insurance and fidelity bond coverage as may be 
required by the Government. 

 

12. To establish and maintain such books and records relating to the operation of 
the facility and its financial affairs and to provide for required audit thereof as 
required by the Government, to provide the Government a copy of each such 
audit without its request, and to forward to the Government such additional 
information and reports as it may from time to time require. 

 

13. To provide the Government at all reasonable times access to all books and 
records relating to the facility and to access to the property of the system so 
that the Government may ascertain that the City is complying with the 
provisions hereof and of the instruments incident to the making of insuring of 
the loan. 

 

14. That if the Government requires that a reserve account be established, 
disbursements from that account(s) may be used when necessary for 
payments due on the bond if sufficient funds are not otherwise available and 
prior approval of the Government is obtained. Also, with the prior written 
approval of the Government, funds may be withdrawn and used for such 
things as emergency maintenance, extensions to facilities and replacement of 
short lived assets. 

 

15. To provide adequate service to all persons within the service area who can 
feasibly and legally be served and to obtain USDA’s concurrence prior to 
refusing new or adequate services to such persons. Upon failure to provide 
services which are feasible and legal, such person shall have a direct right of 
action against the City or public body. 
 

16. To comply with the measures identified in the Government’s environmental 
impact analysis for this facility for the purpose of avoiding or reducing the 
adverse environmental impacts of the facility’s construction or operation. 
 

17. To accept a grant in an amount not to exceed $5,021,000 under the terms 
offered by the Government; that the City Manager and Bethel City Council are 
hereby authorized and empowered to take all action necessary or appropriate 
in the execution of all written instruments as may be required in regard to or 

41



 Introduced by: Council Member Charles 
Date: December 11, 2018 

Action:  
Vote:  

 

{00851768}City of Bethel, Alaska     Resolution #18-21 

    4 of 4  

    

as evidence of such grant; and to operate the facility under the terms offered 
in said grant agreement(s). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City: 
 

1. Agrees that the provisions hereof and the provisions of all instruments incident 
to the making or the insuring of the loan, unless otherwise specifically provided 
by the terms of such instrument, shall be binding upon the City as long as the 
bonds are held or insured by the Government or assignee; and 

 

2. Agrees that the provisions of sections 6 through 17 hereof may be provided 
for in more specific detail in the bond resolution or ordinance; and 

 

3. Agrees that to the extent that the provisions contained in such bond resolution 
or ordinance should be found to be inconsistent with the provisions hereof, 
these provisions shall be construed as controlling between the City and the 
Government or assignee. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED THIS __ DAY OF ____ 2018, BY A _ VOTE IN FAVOR 
AND A _VOTE IN OPPOSITION.  
 
  __________________________ 

Fred Watson, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

42



43



44



45



4546



4647



4748



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  18-74 

Date action introduced: December 11, 2018 Introduced 

by:   

Mayor Watson 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 18-74  

Re-appointment of Committee and Commission Members for a term of three years. If approved 
for reappointment, the new term will be from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2021. 

Attachment(s):  None Attachment(s):  none 

 

Amount of fiscal impact:  Account information: 

x No fiscal impact  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee Reappointments 

Judy Wasierski has submitted an application for reappointment to the PRAHS Committee; term 

expiration is December 31, 2018.  

Kathy Hanson has submitted an application for reappointment to the PRAHS Committee; term 

expiration is December 31, 2018. 

Planning Commission Reappointments 

Kathy Hanson has submitted an application for reappointment to the Planning Commission; 

term expiration is December 31, 2018.  

Public Safety and Transportation Commission Reappointments 

Joan Dewey has submitted an application for reappointment to the Public Safety and 

Transportation Commission; term expiration is December 31, 2018.  

Port Committee Reappointments 

Alan Murphy has submitted an application for reappointment to the Port Committee; term 

expiration is December 31, 2018.  

 

49



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Authorize and approve City Administration to issue checks totaling $25,525 to 
Quarter 4 Community Action Grant awardees based on the Community Action Grant Technical 
Review Board’s (CAGTRB) work on scoring applications and deciding how to divide up the funds 
available.  

Attachment(s): None. 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams PW 

Finance / Cindy Sharp CS 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

No fiscal impact at this time. 

Requires funding in FY 2019 Budget. 

$25,525 Funding in FY 2019 Budget. 10-72-760 

Summary Statement 
The City of Bethel established the Community Action Grant Program (CAG) to allow community 
and individuals to request financial support for programs or events that contribute to the health, 
welfare, and overall quality of life for residents of Bethel, especially its most vulnerable 
populations. Funding for the program comes from 20% of the Alcohol Tax collected by the City. 
The Community Action Grant Technical Review Board was created to develop a process to solicit 
grant applications, review them, and recommend funding selections to City Council.  

The Committee accepted and scored three applications received during the open application 
period: November 2-9, 2018. The Committee met on November 20 and 28, 2018 to score the 
applications and make funding recommendations. The funding recommendations are based on the 
amount of $97,118 being available for program distribution. See results below. 

Applicant and Project Summary Requested 
Recommended 

Award 

1. Friends of the Kuskokwim Consortium Library Avg. score: 145 
Costs associated with hiring a Jesuit Volunteer to fill Adult Services 
Coordinator position. 

$12,765 $12,765 

2. Justine Chamberlain (Coffee House) Avg. score: 146 
Cover costs associated with Church operation of Coffee House, an after-
school program that serves teenagers. 

$9,333 $9,700 

3. Orutsararmiut Native Council-Senior Services Avg. score: 119 
Monthly bus passes for 34 elders for three months. $8,000 $3,060 

The Committee recommended a larger award for the Coffee House project to cover expenses left 
out of the budget and to acknowledge the application for definitively hitting the target population 
and grant purpose. The Committee recommended a reduction in the ONC-Senior Services project 
amount because it found calculation inconsistencies in the application that inflated the true cost. 

Action memorandum No. 

Date action introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 

Confirmed by: 

18-75
December 11, 2018

X

50



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Approve Kenworth Alaska, Inc. as the single source vendor for the immediate 
purchase of six water haul trucks that will end when the purchase is completed. 

Attachment(s): (1) Memorandum from Acting Purchasing Agent to City Manager 
Recommending that Kenworth Alaska, Inc. be Approved as the Single Source Vendor for the 
Purchase of Six Water Haul Trucks; (2) Email from Ray Wesebaum, Vehicle and Equipment 
Foreman, on condition of City water trucks; (3) Price Quote and terms from Kenworth Alaska, 
Inc. for the Purchase of Six Water Haul Trucks, and (4) Water haul truck specifications from 
Kenworth Alaska/West Mark. 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams PW 
 
Finance / Cindy Sharp CS 

 
Public Works / Bill Arnold WA 

 
Legal / Patty Burley PB 
Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

X No fiscal impact at this time. Authorization for procurement 

Funds in City FY 2019 Budget. Process 

Requires funding in FY 2020 Budget. 

Summary Statement 
The City of Bethel owns and operates a hauled water system that serves approximately 1,600 
residential and commercial customers in Bethel. Customers rely on the City to produce clean, 
potable water and make deliveries to installed tanks throughout the community. To this end, 
the City determined that it needs six new water trucks to replace six obsolete vehicles 
manufactured by a company no longer in business. The six new trucks will meet “the bridge 
law” in State Statutes and allow truck drivers to operate at full 3,400-gallon capacity.  

The Acting Purchasing Agent believes the purchase of six water haul trucks from Kenworth 
Alaska, Inc. is in the City’s best interest in order to meet the essential delivery schedule of 
summer 2019. The truck chassis industry is facing heavy demand right now, pushing expected 
delivery dates to summer 2020. The City is in a fortunate position because it has six water trucks 
reserved for assembly and promised for delivery in 2019 by Kenworth Alaska, Inc. if the City 
places the truck order by December 12, 2018. 

The City Manager recommends that Bethel City Council approve this single source purchase of 
six water haul trucks from vendor, Kenworth Alaska, Inc. The single source procurement will end 
when the purchase is completed. 

Action memorandum No. 
Date action introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 
Confirmed by: 

18-76
December 11, 2018

51



 

To: Peter Williams, City Manager 

From: John Sargent, Grant Manager and Acting Purchasing Agent 

Subject: Single Source Justification for Purchase of Water Trucks 

Date: December 3, 2018 

 
 

Pursuant to 2 AAC 12.410-.415, as Acting Purchasing Agent, I have determined that a single source 
procurement is appropriate for one purchase of six new water haul trucks. It is in the City’s best 
interest and not practicable to award a competitively bid contract. This determination of Kenworth 
Alaska, Inc. as the single source vendor will last until the purchase of six new water haul trucks is 
complete (after trucks are received, inspected, test-driven, and paid for). 
 
It is urgent that the City replace six water haul trucks with high cumulative hours with new water haul 
trucks to fulfill its responsibility to deliver water to residents and commercial establishments on a 
timely basis without interruption in Bethel. 
 
Alaska Administrative Code 2 AAC 12.410 states: 
 
(a) A request by a purchasing agent that a procurement be restricted to one potential contractor shall be 
accompanied by a written explanation that meets the requirements of 2 AAC 12.415 as to why it is not 
practicable to award a contract by competitive bid/proposals and why award to a single source is in the 
States [City's] best interests. 
 
(b) A determination of single source must specify the duration of the determination's effectiveness 
[how long is the single source appropriate] 
 
Pursuant to 2 AAC 12.415, the purchase of Kenworth water haul trucks is in the City’s best interest for 
the reasons mentioned herein, including: 
 

1. Essence of time to order water haul trucks precludes the consideration of other truck vendors. 
a. City has urgent need to provide water delivery services and must have a sufficient 

quantity of well-equipped water service vehicles to perform those duties. 
b. City must meet DOT&PF highway requirements regarding axle weight distribution in 

order to operate at full capacity. 

City of Bethel 
P.O. Box 1388 • Bethel, Alaska 99559-1388 

907-543-1386 
Fax # 543-1388 

Website: www.cityofbethel.org 
 

52



a. City’s remediation plan to DOT&PF stated its intention to purchase six or more 
water trucks in order to comply with 17 AAC 25.013 (a)(4) and (5).  

2. The City recently purchased five new Kenworth sewer haul trucks and stands to achieve 
economies of scale, simplicity of parts ordering and inventory, mechanic knowledge, and 
access to a dealer in Anchorage by ordering more Kenworth vehicles.  

3. The purchase price to order six Kenworth water haul trucks was found to be very 
competitive. 

The City is pressed for time to make the purchase of six water trucks in order to receive the 
trucks during the summer 2019 barge season. Kenworth Alaska, Inc. has six trucks reserved for 
the City of Bethel in its manufacturing schedule and can deliver the trucks by October 1, 2019.  
 
Alaska Statute 36.30.300 Single Source Procurements, states: 
 
(a) a contract may be awarded for supplies without competitive sealed bidding/proposals…only 
when the procurement officer determines, in writing, that: 
(1) It is not practicable to award a contract by competitive sealed bidding/proposals; and 
(2) award of the contract under this section is in the State's [City's] best interest. 
 
(b) the using agency [in this case, Public Works] shall submit written evidence to support a 
request for a single source procurement. 
 
Please find a printout of an email from Ray Wesebaum, City Vehicle and Equipment Foreman, 
that provides further evidence of the dilapidated condition of the City’s fleet of water trucks.  
 
Single Source Justification 
 
The City of Bethel must procure six new water haul trucks now in order to continue to safely 
operate its water haul system. The City’s intention and efforts to purchase six new water trucks 
from Kenworth is now in jeopardy unless this single source justification is approved and the City 
agrees to fund it. Timing is of the essence. Kenworth requires the City to submit its order with a 
$250,000 down payment by December 12, 2018. An order by this date will help secure six new 
water trucks in the manufacturing process and help ensure their delivery to Bethel by October 
2019.  
 
The City struggles to maintain its aging fleet of Sterling brand water trucks due to parts scarcity 
and lack of manufacturer support. The City currently expects to pay $287,479 annually to 
maintain the water truck fleet. New trucks are expected to reduce the need for repairs.  
 
State of Alaska Purchasing Agent Kristi Futrel told City Attorney Burley that municipalities are 
having a difficult time procuring heavy truck chassis. Manufacturers are facing a serious backlog 
of chassis orders with order initialization deferred until July 2019 at present and respective 
deliveries expected 9-12 months later (April-July 2020). 
 
The City pledged to DOT&PF in 2017 that it would take significant steps to ensure its water haul 
trucks meet State highway requirements for axle weight distribution. The City spelled out how 

53



planned USDA-RD funding of The Avenues Project included the purchase of six water haul 
trucks. The City’s decline of the $13,627,000 USDA-RD funding package means the City must 
now purchase the six water trucks using its own funds. 
 
Subject Matter Expert Testimony – Public Works Director William Arnold 
Public Works Director William Arnold believes that the recent purchase of five Kenworth sewer 
trucks substantially moves the City toward a full complement of Kenworth haul trucks. By the 
beginning of summer 2019, five of fifteen sewer haul truck chassis operated by the City will be 
manufactured by Kenworth. Mr. Arnold sees operating efficiencies, economies of scale, 
familiarity and knowledge, availability of parts and service experts, easier inventory tracking, 
and the presence of a dealer in Anchorage as strong reasons to purchase Kenworth trucks.   
 
The City Shop inventory of parts for Kenworth is expected to be one-third of what it is currently 
using Sterling vehicles. The City expects to see less inventory costs and to use less inventory 
space for Kenworth truck parts. Parts can be ordered easily and shipped from Anchorage either 
the same day or the next day, in most cases. 
 
City of Bethel’s Best Interest 
It is in the City’s Best Interest for Bethel City Council to approve this single source justification 
for the purchase of six new water haul trucks from Kenworth Alaska, Inc. The City must place 
its order with a down payment of $225,000 by December 12, 2018 in order for the trucks to be 
delivered to the City Dock during the 2019 summer barge season. 
 
Please find the price quote attached for the purchase of six new water haul trucks from Kenworth 
Alaska, Inc. 

54



Email Date: December 4, 2018 

List of Water Trucks in fleet 

1. #738 1997 Sterling Louisville LT8513  8.3 L engine, 116,081 miles,  29,467 hrs. This 
truck has a 2” MP water pump that pumps 65 gpm. There has been $11,477.09 in 
repairs done to this truck this year. 

2. #740 1997 Sterling Louisville LT8513 8.3 L engine. This truck has a blown engine with 
an estimated $20,000 for new engine. 

3. #743 1999 Sterling Louisville LT8513 8.3 L engine. 133,681 miles, 29,301 hrs. This 
truck has a 2” MP water pump that pumps 65 gpm. There has been $19,934.38 in 
repairs since 2017. 

4. #745 2004 Sterling LT8500 7.2L engine. 125,364 miles and 27,247 hrs. This truck has a 
2” MP water pump that pumps 65gpm. There has been $28,044.21 in repairs since 
2017. 

5. #746 2004 Sterling LT8500 7.2L engine. 69,076 miles This truck has a 2” MP water 
pump that pumps 65gpm. There has been $20,494.51 in repairs since 2017. 

6. #748 2009 Sterling Acterra7.2L engine that has a hole in the block. Estimated cost of 
$40,000 for new engine. 

7. #749 2009  Sterling Acterra 7.2L engine. This truck has 85,970 miles and 24,781 hrs. 
This truck has a 3” MP water pump that pumps 100 gpm. There has been $22,327.95 
in repairs since 2017. 

8. #750 2017 Mack Granite 10.8L engine. This truck has 22,586 miles and4952 hrs. It has 
a Danfoss water pump that pumps 100 gpm. There has been $2008.03 in repairs. 

9. #751 2018 Mack Granite MP7 engine. This truck has 13,353 miles and 2403 hrs. This 
truck has a Danfoss water pump that pumps 100 gpm. There has been $3,079.99 in 
repairs. 

It is hard to estimate any problems in the future; however as rough as the roads are, it is a 
constant that we are repairing front and rear suspension parts (leaf springs, tie rod ends, carrier 
bearings, etc.), re-welding fenders, brakes, rebuilding the older water pumps, and severe 
electrical issues. 

There are a couple different methods of converting engine hours to engine miles. Most trucks if 
they were being driven on a normal basis would average 40 mph. By taking the engine hours 
and multiplying by 40 will give you an approximate to engine miles. Most of these trucks are 
going on around 30,000 hrs. which makes the engine miles about 1,200,000. 

The newer bigger water pumps are more efficient by 1/3. What takes the newer trucks 6 hrs. to 
pump takes the older pumps 9 hrs. That is a lot of man hours that could be saved.  
 

Ray Wesebaum 
Foreman 
Vehicles and Equipment 
City of Bethel 
PO Box 1388 
Bethel, AK 99559 
Tel (907) 543-2047 Ext 523 

55



56



57



58



59



60



1

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Direct Administration to order six (6) new water haul trucks pursuant to single 
source procurement approval by placing an order and down payment for the trucks, pursuing 
a final contract for delivery, and pursuing a financing package with Community Leasing 
Partners.  

Attachment(s): (1) Community Leasing Partners proposal to finance the purchase of six water 
haul trucks; and (2) Price Quote and terms from Kenworth Alaska, Inc. for the purchase of six 
water haul trucks. 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams PW 
 Finance / Cindy Sharp CS 
 Public Works / Bill Arnold WA 
 Legal / Patty Burley PB 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 
No fiscal impact at this time. 

$250,000.00 Funds in City FY 2019 Budget. 51-81-690 

$291,941.08 Requires funding in FY 2020 Budget. 51-81-690 

Summary Statement 
As outlined in AM #18-XX regarding the single source procurement of six (6) new water trucks, 
they need to be ordered as soon as possible to ensure delivery by October 2019. 

Due to the loss of grant funding from the Avenues Project, the City has to pay the full cost of the 
trucks from the Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund.  

Administration recommends the City place a $250,000 down payment on the order and finance 
the balance of $1,303,916 over a five (5) year period. This will have the smallest impact on the 
Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund per affected year, leaving funds available to pursue any 
emergencies that might arise or any future funding opportunities. Payment/funding options 
appear below:  

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 
Down Payment $250,000 $400,000 $600,000 Pay all at once 
Annual Pmt (5 yrs) 291,941 258,357 158,251 $1,153,916 
Annual Pmt (7 yrs) 216,475 191,572 117,048 
Annual Pmt (10 yrs) 160,393 141,942 101,371 

Note: Numbers rounded to nearest dollar. 

Action memorandum No. 
Date action introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager

Date action taken: Approved Denied 
Confirmed by: 

18-77
December 11, 2018

p.61



62



63



1 

City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action Title: Direct Administration to prepare and submit a FY 2020 Community Transportation Grant 
application to fund the operation of the Bethel Transit System with $80,580 from the City’s FY 2020 
Budget as local match. 

Attachment(s): Bethel Public Transit System Budget from FY 2019 City of Bethel Budget; Public 
Transit Budget Worksheet for Proposed FY 2020 Grant Application.  

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration / Peter Williams PW 

 Finance / Cindy Sharp CS 

 Public Works / William Arnold WA 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

No fiscal impact at this time. 

Funds in City Budget. 

$80,580 Requires funding in FY 2019 Budget. 56-50 

Summary Statement 
The FY 2020 Community Transportation Grant application period is now open. The grant application 
deadline is December 17, 2018. The Transit Office typically provides notice of awards in May-June 
2018 for the performance period: July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020. 

The City plans to fund the transit system by collecting $33,000 in farebox revenue, requesting 
$310,378 in grant funds, and providing $80,580 in cash match. The City Manager must provide a 
letter for the grant application that pledges the cash match amount. 

The transit budget would fund one full-time transit manager, one full-time driver, and one part-time 
driver. The budget would fund the purchase of one new 14-passenger transit vehicle. 

The Transit Office at the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities confirmed that it 
is acceptable for the transit manager to drive the bus occasionally, as long as the City pays for the 
drive time from the grant-funded operating budget, not the administration budget.  

Once the grant is announced by the State, City Administration will present to Council another Action 
Memorandum to approve and accept the grant award and direct the City Manager to sign it. 

Action memorandum No. 

Date action introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 

Date action taken: Approved Denied 

Confirmed by: 

18-78
December 11, 2018

64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



18-18
December 11, 2018

72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



 

                CITY OF BETHEL      William F. Howell III, Fire Chief  

                             Fire Department                                P.O. Box 1388, Bethel, Alaska 99559  
                                  Phone: (907)-543-2131 

                  Fax: (907)-543-2702  
                                                                     bhowell@cityofbethel.net 

    
 
 

Celebrating 50 Years of Service 
  

      
 
    

DATE:  November 28, 2018  

            
TO:  Pete Williams, City Manager 
 
FROM: Bill Howell, Fire Chief 
 
SUBJECT: Management Report, November 2018 
 
 
Current Events 

  

 The Department notified the public through several PSA’s in print and social 
media of the new address requirements.  As of November 28, 2018, the 
department has facilitated the ordering of 169 green/white reflective house 
numbers plaques.  Overall the reception has been very positive.  Many Bethel 
residents have expressed their support for this measure.  These residents are 
pleased that the City  is encouraging residents to correct and improve address 
signage on their homes and businesses.   

 The Bethel Fire Department is now a member of the International Association of 
Fire Chiefs. 

 The Institutional Corridor water system is online including Fire Hydrants. 

 The Department is renewing our annual ambulance certification 

 There was no quorum at our November 7th Public Safety and Transportation 
Commission meeting.  The commission is seeking members for regular and 
alternate positions.  Our next meeting is scheduled for December 5th 2018 at the 
Bethel Council Chambers at 6:30 p.m. 

 The Department reviewed and approved an application to serve alcohol at a 
December 16, 2018  Chili cook and Fundraiser at the Cultural Center. 

 Fire and EMS vehicle inventories are being reviewed and updated 

 

 

169



 

Community Planning/Preparedness 

 The department continues to attend bi-weekly teleconferences with Lifequest 

services our ambulance billing company.  These meetings are aimed at 

improving recovery of revenue through better documentation and timely filings 

 The Department is assisting administration in planning for a HAZWOPER and 

confined space class. 

 The Department is updating the City of Bethel Emergency operations plan. 

 The Department is assisting administration with the cleanup and disposal of a 
release of Muriatic Acid inside a storage container at the pool. The storage 
container was secured by BFD personnel with a Knox padlock until City 
personnel receive the proper training to neutralize and dispose of the materials.  

 Bethel Fire Department has been selected as a test site for the new Medicaid 
supplemental reimbursement program (GEMT).  Being part of this pilot will allow 
Bethel to shape the program to meet Bethel’s needs. GEMT legislation (HB 176) 
was signed into law in June of this year.  This law allows municipal ambulance 
services to receive reimbursement of 50% or more of the uncompensated cost 
(UCC) of providing ambulance service.   

Bethel’s ambulance service costs the City around $1500 per transport. The City 
receives about $400 from Medicaid per transport.  The City would be able to 
receive reimbursement for at least half of the UCC, $1100.  Current estimates 
suggest as much as 150K-200K in revenue from this program.  These funds 
must be used for EMS purposes. The Department is waiting for further 
information on steps needed to participate 

Training 

 On 11/06/18 at 7:00 p.m. an EMT Meeting was held at the fire station. 

Responders reviewed the product training videos and procedures for deploying 

the Rescue Alive ice/water rescue equipment. In addition, responders performed 

maintenance on the equipment.  

 On 11/08/17 at 7:00 p.m. a Fire Meeting was held at the fire station. Responders 

toured the new hospital kitchen facility and its fire protection systems.  

 On 11/09/17 at 11:00 a.m. a Staff Meeting was held at the fire station. Staff 

conducted a safety meeting on slip, trip, and fall prevention. Some of the topics 

covered were changes to the daily duties list, importance of communication, 

recording all training for volunteers (ISO requirement), stocking salt/sand on 

department apparatus, and the department chain of command.  

 On 11/20/18 at 7:00 p.m. an EMT Meeting was held at the fire station. 

Responders reviewed procedures for the treatment of head, neck, and spinal 

170



 

injuries, and practiced using the K.E.D., long backboards, and the department’s 

new full-body vacuum splint.  

 The department’s EMT-1 class has started and instructors have given lectures 

and demonstrated skills on the following topics: AHA BLS Provider (CPR); OSHA 

and FD Policies;  N95 respirator fit testing; Introduction to Emergency Medical 

Care; The Well Being of the EMT; Lifting and Moving, Medical, Legal, and Ethical 

Issues; Medical Terminology; Anatomy and Physiology; Ventilation, Perfusion 

and Shock: Understanding Pathophysiology; Life Span Development; Airway 

Management; Respiration and Artificial Ventilation; Scene Size-Up, and The 

Primary Assessment.  

 Newly hired staff members have been conducting Firefighter and EMT skills 

verifications and have completed mandatory OSHA training. Additionally, new 

staff have completed and passed the department’s firefighter physical agility test. 

 Captain Solesbee is coordinating an upcoming 24-Hour HAZWOPER, 8-Hour 

HAZWOPER Refresher, and an 8-Hour Confined Space Entry class for City of 

Bethel employees. This training is being scheduled for December 17-21, 2018. 

For employees needing the full 40-Hour HAZWOPER, an additional 16-Hour 

training will be scheduled for a future date.  

Responses 

 

 Between 10/31/18 and 11/27/18, the Bethel Fire Department responded to 83 
EMS and 9 Fire incidents. 
 

 During this period, 28 EMS incidents (33.7%) were alcohol-related.  
 

 On 11/02/18 at 6:00 p.m. medics responded to BRHS for the report of a person 
who broke their arm. The patient was evaluated and transported to the hospital. 

 

 On 11/05/18 at 7:53 p.m. medics responded to Yukon Court for the report of a 
person who experienced a seizure. The patient was assessed and transported to 
the hospital. 

 

 On 11/07/18 at 3:05 a.m. medics responded to the Prematernal Home for the 
report of a person in labor. The patient was assessed and transported to the 
hospital. 

 

 On 11/08/18 at 3:33 a.m. medics responded to the area of Mission Lake Road for 
the report of a person who was experiencing an allergic reaction. The patient was 
assessed and transported to the hospital. 

 

171



 

 On 11/10/18 at 5:00 a.m. medics responded to Larson Subdivision for the report 
of a person who was attacked with a butcher knife. The patient was assessed 
and refused transport to the hospital. 

 

 On 11/20/18 at 12:40 p.m. medics responded to Ridgecrest Drive for the report of 
a person who was experiencing a stroke. The patient was assessed and 
transported to the hospital. 

 

 On 11/22/18 at 3:19 p.m. firefighters responded to the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta 
Regional Hospital for a report of a fire in the West Wing. Upon arrival, there was 
no fire, as it was determined the alarm was caused by a water leak. The crew 
helped stop the leak and then returned to quarters. 

 

 On 11/26/18 at 11:53 p.m. Firefighters responded to Blackberry Street for the 
report of a carbon monoxide alarm. Firefighters performed air sampling tests and 
found no signs of carbon monoxide. The owner was advised of the signs and 
symptoms of carbon monoxide poisoning and firefighters returned to quarters.   

 
 
Budget/Financial  

 

 The Department submitted two Budget modifications in the November 27, 2018 

council packet.  Budget modifications requested will transfer funds from the 10-

60-699 (capital) back into vehicle parts and repairs and correct funding to a FTE 

that was classified incorrectly.  

 With 42% of the budget year (11-28-18) elapsed, the department has used 
54.4% of regular and 48% of our callback overtime budget.  Few shift-qualified 
staff, high alcohol related call volume and low volunteer turnout are factors 
causing the increase in overtime use.  Full staffing, and reduced number of calls 
for service into the slower winter months should curtail overtime use.  Overtime 
use will be evaluated at the end of December to determine if modification to the 
budget is needed. 

 YTD budget is attached for review 

Grants  

 The Department received funding through the Volunteer Fire Assistance program 
for $7,470, for three sets of firefighting turnouts.  This grant has a 10% match. 
The project total is $8,300. The Department has submitted orders to a vendor. 

 
 The Department applied for and passed the first round of approval the Phase 18 

Code blue Grant for $45,000 for the remount of Medic-5 to a new chassis.  Funds 
have been awarded and will be reimbursed once expenditure is made. 
 

 The Department was awarded $7,500 in Code Blue grant funding for a new 
power stretcher for Medic-6.  The YKHC EMS Department administers this grant 

172



 

and BVESA has committed matching funds.  The stretcher is in service in the 
new ambulance.  We are waiting for invoice to make final payment and close the 
grant.  

 

Staffing/recruitment 

 The Department is fully staffed effective November 1, 2018.  We welcome back 
John Ahrens of Orcas Island, WA.  John is a shift-qualified firefighter who 
previously served in the department for one year. 
 

 The Department is working on past due employee evaluations and will have these 
completed by the end of the month. 
 

 PAR’s for employees of the Fire Department who were underpaid overtime 
callback pay are pending agreement of an effective date agreed to by the union 
and management team. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

173



 

 
Vehicles & Equipment 
 

 The new ladder truck is receiving warranty repair for a problem with the nozzle-

nesting feature and repairs to the Compressed Air Foam (CAFS) compressor.  

We are outfitting the new ladder truck with firefighting and rescue equipment. 

 An AM for disposal of one surplus fire engine was approved at the November 27, 
2018 meeting. 

 Our new stretcher was installed in M6 and is operational. 

 The Code Blue committee has approved $45,000 to remount our 2003 Ford 

ambulance M-5.  

 M-5 went to V&E for fuel leaks.  Is out of service until reapired. 

 The Department is working with admin to dispose of all surplus vehicles.  Action 

Memorandum and Resolutions are forthcoming to surplus the obsolete equipment. 

FIRE DEPARTMENT VEHICLE STATUS 

Vehicle Type  Year Status 
Medic 4 Ambulance 1999 (Backup ambulance)In service, Airbags repaired. 

Medic 5 Ambulance 2003 In service.  Frequent no starts/dead batteries.   
(Plan to remount to new Dodge chassis in  2018/2019) 

Medic 6 Ambulance 2017 (Frontline Ambulance) In service. Tires studded. 
Parts ordered. 

Engine 4 Pumper 2013 (Frontline pumper) In service, Seat belt sensor 
silenced but still needing repair by V&E.  DEF tank 
heater malfunction. 

Engine 3 Pumper 1986 Being outfitted as a tender and water supply unit.  
3000 feet of LDH. 
(Poor overall condition  needs replacement) 

Truck 1 Ladder 
Truck 

2017 Outfitting, in service 

Com 1 Pickup 2014 In service 

Com 2 Pickup 2004 In service. 

Tanker 1 Tanker  
(1500 gallon) 

1980 Out of Service 

Truck 1  Ladder 
Truck 

1980 Out of Service  

 

174



 1 

MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:  December 3, 2018 
 
TO:  Peter Williams, City Manager 
 
FROM:  John Sargent, Grant Manager  

 
SUBJECT: Grant Manager’s Report – December 11, 2018 Bethel City Council Meeting 
 
 
Grant Projects 
Jetty Repair 
While the jetty portion of this project is complete, this project will remain open until the 
City receives the five new sewer trucks ordered that are part of the project. The trucks 
are supposed to arrive on the last barge of 2019.  
 
The City is considering the advantages of refinancing the $913,000 loan now in place 
with USDA-RD at 2.25% interest with a loan from the Alaska State Revolving Loan 
Program at 1.75%.  
 
Dredging of Sewer Lagoon 
The dredging is finished, but one grant remains open to cover the last of engineer 
CH2M’s expenses and the costs associated with sludge testing. The City is actively 
pursuing permission to use the dried sludge material as landfill cover.  
 
Pinky’s Park Sports Field 
The Alaska Village Electric Cooperative installed four LED 120 streetlights at the new 
sports field in Pinky’s Park as safety lighting. The lights are not meant to provide 
sufficient light to use the field in the dark, but to light up the poles, barricades and 
other park appurtenances for snowmachiners and fourwheeler operators.  
 
In summer 2019, the sports field should be fully operational with soccer goals, 
bleachers, bike racks, and portapotties. 
 
Institutional Corridor 
The Institutional Corridor project is nearly complete. The construction company 
conducted tests, inspected the pipes, and worked out the kinks. The City received the 
permit from the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) to operate the 
new water system. It is up and running! 
 
Bethel Heights Water and Sewer PERs/ERs 
DOWL engineer Chase Nelson and associates continues to work on the Preliminary 
Engineering Report and Environmental Report for the Sewer System in Bethel Heights. 
DOWL is also updating the water system PER/ER that was originally completed in April 
2, 2013. These two new five-year plans will be prepared in time for the City to apply for 
construction funding in April through the Village Safe Water’s Capital Improvement 

175



 2 

Program and Sanitary Deficiency Database program. The City’s projects are expected to 
score low due to lack of health and safety concerns and the highly competitive nature 
of both statewide programs. USDA-RD funding may be a viable option. 
 
Community Action Grant 
The Committee received three community action grant applications during the 
November 2-9, 2018 open period, evaluated them during their two meetings in 
November, and produced an AM for council consideration. 
 
Request for Bids/Proposals 

 Issued: RFB to purchase one culvert steamer-trailer. 
 In Development: RFP to hire a company to perform sales tax audits. 

 
 

City of Bethel 
Grant Summary 
Fiscal Year 2019 

Preparing 
 
 
Sponsor 

 
 
Name 

 
 
Products/Services 

City 
Depts. 
(Partners) 

 
 

Date 

 
 $ Grant 

$ City Match 
Alaska Department 

of Transportation & 

Public Facilities, 

Transit Division 

Community 

Transit Grant 

Application 

Administration, 

operating, and capital 

funds to operate the 

transit system. 

Public 

Works 

12/17/18 $334,000 

$80,508 

 

State of Alaska Capital Budget 

Requests 

Avenues water and 

sewer project, Bethel 

Heights Water Loop 

A, Dust Control, City 

Hall Roof 

Public 

Works 

12/18 $20,743,645 

0 

Approved in Fiscal Year 2018 Most recent first 

Sponsor Name Products/Services 

City 

Depts. Date  $ Grant 

Alaska Dept. of 

Environmental 

Conservation 

Alaska Village 

Safe Water 

Program 

Preliminary 

Engineering Report & 

Environmental Report 

for Bethel Heights 

Sewer System 

Public 

Works 

11/27/18 $75,000 

 

176



Memorandum 
Date: November 19, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 

November 2018 Current Events 

 

 Vacation for December:  

I will be leaving the country on vacation at the end of November and so I have spent a good 

piece of the month trying to wrap up loose ends and take forward steps so that things can run 

as smoothly as they can while I’m away. I’ve scheduled an onsite visit with Arctic IT halfway 

through my vacation so they can handle any hands‐on technical issues that pileup while I’m 

away (things that can’t be fixed remotely). After I return, I’ll handle the rest.   

 

 E911 Phase Two:  

I’ve spent some time this month assisting the police department in preparing for the phase two 

upgrade for their E911 system. This upgrade will allow the dispatchers to have a physically 

mapped location given to them for cellular callers contacting 911. The upgrade involves a lot of 

entities including GCI, UUI, West, Vesta 911, and ProComm. Installing phase‐two equipment and 

putting in work orders for UUI to make changes to E911 phone lines at the police department 

(items we were responsible for) have already been completed. All that should be left is for BPD 

to schedule ProComm/Vesta to take a trip out and hook things up, make sure everything is 

working, and train the dispatchers. I shouldn’t be needed for this leg of the project and so my 

vacation shouldn’t interfere with this at all. 

 

 New Phone Lines at Public Works:  

Near the end of November, the city manager informed me of plans to upgrade a fire alarm 

system located in the Public Works maintenance workshop. The upgrade will need phone lines 

(a main and a backup) to be installed so that the fire alarm can call out when it detects a 

problem. I have placed a work order in with UUI to have these two lines installed. 

 

 Dispatch Station Rebuild:  

The main dispatch computer at the police department died partway through November when its 

internal hard drive went bad. Not wanting the PD to have to endure without that station for an 

entire month, I gold‐streaked some replacement parts out (as it wouldn’t have arrived before 

my departure normally) and got the system back on its feet, having to set it up from scratch. 

Both dispatch stations are online and running again. 

 

 Xerox Supplies for Large Copiers:  

I have checked on each of the large copiers and placed out supplies that are likely to be needed 

while I’m on vacation. Providing no one moves the supplies, each machine should have a few 

boxes around it for everything that might/will be needed during the month of December.  

177



Memorandum 
Date: November 19, 2018 
To: Pete Williams, City Manager 
From: Bo Foley, IT Director 
Subject: IT Director’s Report 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

 Business‐As‐Usual:  

Beyond the above‐mentioned items, the month has been spent fixing or helping with run‐of‐

the‐mill trouble tickets such as email issues, printing/scanning, Caselle access, and login 

problems to name a few.  

 

Future Plans 

 Vacation:  

As was stated above, I plan to be gone for the entire month of December. My exact travel dates 

will be from 11/26/18 through 1/7/19. During this time, I will be unreachable by any means 

except email and my responses via email may be delayed by a day or more due to the drastic 

time differences between Bethel and where I’ll be. For any and all computer‐related issues, I will 

be instructing all to please direct things towards Arctic IT. In most cases they should be able to 

solve the problems remotely. That which they cannot can hopefully be covered during their 

onsite visit.  

 

178



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

City of Bethel 

PPoolliiccee  DDeeppaarrttmmeenntt 
              
 

 

November, 2018 Monthly Report 

 

 

Personnel: 

 

BPD and DPS are in the process of writing a Memorandum of Agreement to 

facilitate the assignment of a BPD officer to the WAANT unit.  The 

agreement language is now with DPS for their consideration and edits.   

 

The vacancy in dispatch has been filled and the person is now in field 

training.  The evidence/records clerk position is still open and recruitment is 

ongoing.  All CSP and CSO positions remain fully staffed. 

 

Operations: 

 

There were 1,283 calls for service the month of November, down almost 350 

from October and approximately 450 from the same period in 2017.  The 

number of calls requiring investigative reports was also down from last year, 

107 to 80.  The number of intoxicated pedestrian calls is approximately half 

compared to last year, 439 to 218.  The number of domestic violence 

investigations was 22 this month compared to 27 for the same period in 

2017.  There were 13 DUI investigations resulting in 4 arrests compared to 

18 investigations resulting in only 6 arrests for the same period last year.  

There weren’t any death investigations compared to two in 2017.   

 

Though the calls for service were down for the month there were several 

violent episodes.  There were multiple domestic violence cases involving 

strangulation.  These cases result in multiple felony level charges.  There 

was an assault where the victim was hospitalized for being struck with a club 

multiple times.  Another assailant allegedly threatened one household with 

an ax and commanded his dog to attack a separate victim.  The victim 

defended himself with a knife resulting in several wounds to the dog.  The 

dog was shipped out by BFK9 for medical treatment.  A juvenile also 

179



 

       Bethel Police Department | P.O. Box 809 | 157 Salmonberry Rd. | Bethel, Alaska 99559 

                 Telephone 907-543-3781 | Fax 907-543-5086 | www.cityofbethel.org 

 

threatened an officer on Ridgecrest Dr. with a knife and was eventually 

tazed to restrain him.  Felony charges were forwarded in that case as well. 

 

Animal Control: 

 

There were 44 animal control calls for service for the month with one 

reported dog bite.   This was in addition to the dog attack described above.    

 

 

180



 

PORT OF BETHEL 

Post Office Box 1388 
Bethel, Alaska 99559 
Voice: 907-543-2310 
Fax:    907-543-2311 

   
TO:                Peter Williams, City Manager 

FROM: Allen Wold, Port Director 

SUBJECT:  November 2018 Managers Report  

                         

 Small Boat Harbor 
-We are working on getting the last of the boats out and into storage for the season.  
-Boarded up SBH Shack. 
 

 City Dock/Beach 1 
-Customers are still in and out of the Dock. 

 
 Port Office  

-Property Maintenance checking on building daily. 
-Ordered office furniture. 
 

 Admin 
-Monthly Storage billing for customers.  
-We have found a job for our last temporary employee up at Public Works.  
-Ed Flores was the Acting Port Director for a week due to Family Emergency leave. 
 

 Seawall 
-Consistent clean up. 
-Removed trash barrels along the lower access of the seawall. 
-Graveling the pipes to prevent tripping hazards. 
 

 East Addition 
-Fixing the cable fence along the seawall. 
-Installed chicken wire fencing and support along open spot in cable fence. Roughly 250 feet. 
 

 Misc./Vehicles 
-Safety checks along the seawall. 

 -Safety Meetings. 
 -V&E working on our trucks. 
 -Winterized all our equipment. (Drained our dust control truck, added plug-ins to loaders) 
 -Looking into a new vehicle for next year from the NASPO Contract. 
 -Working on purchasing a hedge trimmer for a piece of equipment.  

 
Petro Port 
-Winterized all our belonging down at the Petro.   

181



                 Streets and Roads daily dialog   
 

10/31/18 

Graded Akakeek Street, Ridgecrest Drive and Ptarmigan Street. 

Mixes up the last 13 bags of salt along with 39 dump truck loads of sand in the salt sand 

pile. 

We hauled in 30 loads of cover to the landfill with two dump trucks. 

Push the 30 loads of cover at landfill with D-3 Cat. 

Hauled in seven loads of sand to the pad at landfill gate and push with D-3 Cat. 

 

11/1/18 

Hauled 32 loads of cover to the landfill with two dump trucks. 

Push the 32 loads of cover at landfill with D-3 Cat. 

Hauled in six more loads of sand to the pad at landfill gate and push it with D-3 Cat. 

Stack the salt sand pile with 324E cat that we use in our road sander trucks.  

 

11/2/18 

Hauled in 30 more loads of cover to the landfill with two dump trucks. 

Push the 30 loads of cover at the landfill, and finish the Southeast side of the landfill. 

Hauled in six loads to build a road so we can start hauling cover from the back to the 

center of the landfill Monday. 

Hauled in five loads, and push it with the D-3, at the new landfill office pad. 

 

11/5/18 

Haul in 12 loads of sand to the landfill office pad and finish it with the D-3 Cat.  

Hauled in 14 loads of cover to the center back of the landfill with two dump trucks. 

Push the 14 loads with the D-3 Cat that was, hauled to the center of the landfill.  

Graded City Sub., 7th Ave., Ptarmigan Street, Owl Streets, Delapp Street, and Main Street 

 

11/6/18 

Graded Kasayuli Sub., Willow Street, 4th Ave., 5th Ave. 

Hauled in 18 loads of cover to the landfill from city sand pit. 

Push the 18 loads of cover at the landfill with D-3 Cat.  

 

11/7/18 

Graded Blue Berry Sub., city sand roads, and City Sub… 

Hauled 26 loads of cover to the landfill from city sand pit. 

Push the 26 loads of cover at the landfill with D-3 Cat. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

182



 

11/8/18 

Hauled 52 loads of cover to landfill with 3 dump trucks from the top soil pile by fire 

tower. 

Push the 52 loads of cover at the landfill with D-3. 

Hauled six loads of cover to the new part of the graveyard with dump trucks to fixes three 

wash out. 

Push the six loads that was, hauled, to the new graveyard.  

Fix a sinkhole on 4th Ave by 840 4th Ave. . 

Fixes pot hole in City Sub., and on Ptarmigan Street.  

Run two loads of salt sand in the sander truck throughout Bethel roads. 

 

11/9/18 

Hauled 39 load of cover to the landfill with two dump trucks from the top soil pile by fire 

tower. 

Push the 39 loads of cover at the landfill with D-4. 

Run three loads of salt sand with the sander truck through Bethel roads. 

We haul the five vehicles was left on Haroldsen Roads to the landfill.  

 

11/12/18 

Two sander was out sanding through Bethel at 5:30 AM in the morning for 7 hours. 

 

11/13/18 

Two sander was out sanding the Bethel roads for 7 hours. 

Grader scarified the Bethel roads for 7.5 hours. 

Replace the two-grader blades with serrated grader blades. 

 

11/14/18 

Hauled cover for the landfill pile with two dump trucks. 

 

11/15/18 

Hauled cover to the landfill pile with three dump trucks. 

Staked the cover at the landfill in the cover pile with 324e excavator. 

Studded the 163H grader tire with studs. 

Studded the roads sander truck with studs.       

  

11/16/18 

With sanders starting at 5:30 AM sanding the school, routs first and then all of Bethel 

roads 8 hours. 

Also with two graders scarifying the school, routs first and then all other roads of Bethel, 

8 hours.      

  

11/17/18 

Call out on Sat. to grade roads 8 hours. 

 

 

183



11/18/18 

The two of the graders were on Sunday, late at night, to grade Ptarmigan road, Ridgecrest 

road, Akakeek road, city Sub., and Ave., so the roads would freezes up smooth, 3 hours 

on each grader.    

 

11/19/18 

Hauled gravel to the potholes on Ptarmigan Road and Main Street with dump truck. 

Graded the gravel that was, hauled to the potholes on Ptarmigan Road and Main Street. 

Sanded swimming pool parking, Kasayuli Sub., BIA Roads, Standard Oil Road, Hoffman 

Sub., and Blue Berry Sub… 

 

11/20/18 

Sanded swimming pool parking, Standard Oil Road, BIA road, Kasayuli Sub., Blue Berry 

Sub. Hoffman Sub, and intersections for the school bus routes.   

Hauled gravel to the potholes on boat harbor road, and East Ave... 

Graded the gravel that was, hauled to the potholes on boat harbor road and East Ave…. 

 

11/21/18 

Haul cover to the landfill with two dump trucks to the landfill pile. 

We scarified Akakeek roads, Ptarmigan road and 9300 TR with the grader, 6 hours. 

 

11/26/18 

The two graded were out plowing snow throughout bethel roads, 7.5 hours. 

Sander been sanding roads all day, 7.5 hours    

The 966F loader been out plowing snow on parking lot and at roads intersession.   

 

11/27/18 

Plow snow with two graders out at 6:00 am for 7.5 hours. 

Hauled cover to the landfill with two dump trucks. 

Had to pull a water truck back up on road at Kasayuli Sub.  

 

11/28/18  

Plowed parking lots at city office, courthouse, water pump house. 

Plowed snow with the grader on Haroldsen roads, and plowed roads to wider the roads 

that need it throughout Bethel. 

Haul cover from the city sand pit to the landfill with two dump trucks.  

 

11/29/18 

Plowed the fire department parking lot with loader. 

Hauled cover to the landfill with two dump tracks. 

The grader been out scarifying Bethel roads.  

 

11/30/18 

Two grader has been out scarifying Bethel roads, 11 hours each. 

Loader been out plowing out berms in driveways.  

Two sander trucks were out sanding roads for 4 hours each.      

184



 

 

City of Bethel 

Street and Roads Foreman 

James Flemings 

185



                 Streets and Roads daily dialog   
 

11/30/18- 12/2/18 

 

We had a sander out off and on for three days starting Friday night through all weekend 

for 22 hours when the roads was slippery throughout Bethel.  

 

12/3/18 

Graded in the potholes on Ptarmigan St., and City sub… 

Scarified the roads with the grader throughout Bethel roads 5 hours. 

Sanded the roads in Bethel that were slippery with sander truck 6 hours.      

 

City of Bethel 

Street and Roads Foreman 

James Flemings 

186



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

187



1 of 1 cityclerk@cityofbethel.net  
907-543-1384 

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 
 
 

Council Meetings and Events 
December 17, 2018 Special City Council Meeting  
December 18, 2018 Alcohol Task Force Meeting  

 
Committee/Commission Training  
Held annual recorder training on December 4 for the recorders and ex officio members.  
Will provide annual training to the Parks, Rec. Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee  
 
Committee Commissions General 
The City Clerk’s Office has received a number of complaints on the processing of Committee Meetings -
agendas not being posted, packets not being distributed, members not being informed. While my office is 
responsible for training and holding the permanent records for these bodies, my office has no other 
authority. I hold an annual committee training for ex officio members and provide continued one on one 
support for staff that needs support. I however do not have the resources to manage the day to day 
operations of these bodies.  
 
We conducted our annual audit of the Committee and Commission information on the website and what 
we have held as permanent records and found all but two of the committees and commission have more 
than 50% of the annual material still not completed and or available on the City’s website. A notice of 
noncompliance has been provided to administration and the staff.  
 
Passport 
Annual audit preparation and continuation of mandatory annual training.  
 
Electronic Packet Preparation  
It has taken longer than expected to obtain the tablets from the vendor however we anticipate receiving 
them this week.  
The office has spent much of the last few weeks becoming familiar with the system, setting up the internal 
controls of the system and preparing the website for the go live date.  
 
Fiscal Year 2018 Audit Review 
Working with the Finance Department to ensure budget modifications and line item transfers are 
appropriately applied to the City Clerk’s Office budget.  
 
Document Review and Preparation 
Proclamation for Mary Pete 
Amendments to Chapter 2.06 
Resolution Code of Conduct  
 
 

188

mailto:cityclerk@cityofbethel.net


 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

189



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 1 

 
City Manager: Pete Williams  

Rating: 5 = Excellent; 1 = Needs improvement 
 

Enforcement of Laws and Implementation of Policy Directives  5 4 3 2 1 
Manage the City’s administrative affairs according to state statutes and 
Bethel Municipal Code 

     

Comments:      
      
      

Analysis and development of policies and procedures      

Comments:      
      
      
Implement and monitor policies enacted by City Council      
Comments:      
      
      
Supervision of City administration and departments      
Comments:      
      
      
Problem solving and conflict resolution      
Comments:       
      
      
Management and valuation of cultural diversity      

190



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 2 

Comments:      
      
      
Creativity, innovation and ability to change to meet needs      
Comments:      
      
      
Long range planning      
Comments:      
      
      
Development and management of real and personal property of the City      
Comments:      
      
      
SUBTOTAL OF CATEGORY: 

 
 

Appointing Authority 5 4 3 2 1 

Serve as Personnel Officer (Director) of the City      

Comments:      
      
      

Manage Labor Relations/Employee Relations      

Comments:      
      

191



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 3 

      
Monitor employee benefit program:      
Comments:      
      
      
Analyze human resources and technical needs and implement solutions      
Comments:      
      
      
SUBTOTAL OF CATEGORY: 

 
 

Preparation, Submission and execution of annual budget and capital 
improvements 

5 4 3 2 1 

Development and submission of recommended annual budget      
Comments:      
      
      
Development and submission of recommended capital improvement 
program budget 

     

Comments:      
      
      
Budget management, control and analysis      
Comments:      
      
      
SUBTOTAL OF CATEGORY: 

 

192



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 4 

 
Performance of other duties assigned by law  or City Council  5 4 3 2 1 
Timeliness, quality and clarity of communications with city council      
Comments:      
      
      
Timeliness, quality and clarity of communications with the public and 
media 

     

Comments:      
      
      
Ethics, values, judgment and perceptiveness       
Comments:      
      
      
Communicates projects and project status with Council      
Comments:      
      
      
SUBTOTAL OF CATEGORY: 

 
 

Ethics and Communication 5 4 3 2 1 
Defends principle and conviction in the face of partisan influence and 
pressure 

     

Comments:      
      
      
Maintains high standards of ethics, honesty and integrity in all matters      
Comments:      

193



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 5 

      
      
Effectively communicates with staff, Council and the public      
Comments:      
      
      
Writes clearly and concisely      
Comments:      
      
      
Expresses ideas and opinions in a forthright, logical manner      
Comments:      
      
      
Remains poised and calm in difficult situations      
Comments:      
      
      
Represents the City to the public in a positive light      
Comments:      
      
      
SUBTOTAL OF CATEGORY: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

194



CITY OF BETHEL 
CITY MANAGER ANNUAL EVALUATION —DECEMBER 11, 2018 

 6 

 
Total Score:   Excellent: 130   

   Very Good: 104   
   Good: 78   
   Satisfactory: 52   
   Needs Improvement: 26   

 
Additional City Council comments/ recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City Manager Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       
Reviewer’s Signature  Date  City Manager’s Signature  Date 
 

195



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

196


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session
	New Business AM 18-76 Supporting Docs.1.pdf
	Page 1-1
	Sole Source Justification-p2-2

	Clerks Report November 2018.pdf
	City of Bethel, Alaska
	City Clerk’s Office


	Executive Session City Manager Evaluation-current.pdf
	Date

	Resolution 18-21 Supporting Docs .pdf
	11-27-2018 Regular City Council Packet 45
	11-27-2018 Regular City Council Packet 46
	11-27-2018 Regular City Council Packet 47




